# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED SIDUL WHITE MAR 21 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Petitioners,

VS.

Case No. 89,909

JUDITH A. NEMETH, DONALD J NEMETH, and JOHN L. VITALE, both individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondents.

## PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ERIC J. TAYLOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar No. 0337609

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol - PL01 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (904) 487-2142 (904) 488-5865 (FAX)

Counsel for Petitioners

ROBERT F. MILLIGAN COMPTROLLER

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# **CASES**

<u>Arnett v. U.S.,</u> 845 F.Supp. 796 (D.Kan.1994)
<u>Aronson v. Commonwealth,</u> 401 Mass. 244, 516 N.E.2d 137 (1987)
<u>Atkins v. Department of Revenue</u> 320 Or. 713, 894 P.2d 449 (1995)
<u>Bailey v. State,</u> 330 N.C. 227, 412 S.E.2d 295 (1991)
Barenfeld v. U. S., 442 F.2d 371, 194 Ct.Cl. 903 (Ct.Cl. 1971)
Beckman v. Battin, 926 F.Supp. 971 (D.Mont. 1995)
Beckwith Realty, Inc. v. U.S., 896 F.2d 860 (4th Cir. 1990)
Bohn v. U. S., 467 F.2d 1278 (8th Cir. 1972)
Boyd v. U.S., 762 F.2d 1369 (9th Cir. 1985)
<u>Bradley v. Williams,</u> 195 W.Va. 180, 465 S.E.2d 180 (1995)
Brickell v. City of Miami, 103 So. 2d 206 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1958)
<u>Brooks v. Federal Land Bank of Columbia,</u> 106 Fla. 412, 143 So. 749 (1932)
<u>Chicago Milwaukee Corp. v. U.S.,</u> 40 F.3d 373 (Fed. Cir. 1994)
Circuit Court of the Twelfth Judicial Circuit v.  Department of Natural Resources, 339 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 1976),
<u>Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Lundy,</u> U.S, 116 S.Ct. 647 (1996);

<u>Commonwealth of Kentucky v. Gossum,</u> 887 S.W.2d 329 (Ky. 1994)
<u>Curasi v. U.S.,</u> 907 F.Supp. 373 (M.D. Fla.1995)
<u>Dahlgren v. U. S.,</u> 553 F.2d 434 (5th Cir. 1997)
<u>Davis v. Michigan Department of Treasury,</u> 489 U.S. 803, 109 S.Ct. 1500 (1989)
<u>Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein,</u> 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994) i,1,5,6,8,27,29
Diversified Numismatics, Inc. v. City of Orlando, 783 F.Supp. 1337 (M.D. Fla.), affirmed, 723 F.2d 1442 (11th Cir. 1990)
E.W. Wright v. Reynolds Fasteners, Inc., 184 So. 2d 699 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966),
<u>Exxon Corporation v. Lewis,</u> 371 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)
<u>Exxon Corporation v. Lewis,</u> 371 So. 2d 129 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978)
Ferry-Morse Seed Co. v Hitchcock, 426 So. 2d 958 (Fla. 1983)
<u>Firsdon v. U.S.</u> , 95 F.3d 444 (6th Cir. 1996)
Florida Livestock Board v. Hygrade Food Products Corporation, 145 So. 2d 535 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962)
Florida Welding & Erection Service, Inc. v.  American Mutual Insurance Co. of Boston, 285 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1973)
Gabelman v. C.I.R., 86 F.3d 609 (6th Cir. 1996)
Goulding v. U.S., 929 F.2d 329 (7th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 506 U.S. 865, 113 S.Ct. 188 (1992)
Grunwald v. Department of Revenue, 343 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977)

Gustin v. U.S. I.R.S., 876 F.2d 485 (5th Cir. 1989)
Hamide v. State, Department of Corrections, 584 So. 2d 136 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)
<u>Hampton v. State Board of Education,</u> 90 Fla. 88, 105 So. 323 (1925)
<u>Hansen v. State,</u> 503 So. 2d 1324 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987)
<u>Hirsh v. Crews,</u> 494 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)
<u>Huff v. U.S.,</u> 10 F.3d 1440 (9th Cir. 1993), <u>cert. denied,</u> U.S, 114 S.Ct. 2706 (1994)
<u>Humphreys v. U.S.,</u> 62 F.3d 667 (5th Cir. 1995)
<u>In re Woods Estate,</u> 133 Fla. 730, 183 So. 10 (1938)
<u>Jones v. Liberty Glass Co.,</u> 332 U.S. 524, 68 S.Ct. 229 (1947)
Kahl v. Board of County Commissioners of Dade County, 162 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1964)
<u>Kavanagh v. Noble,</u> 332 U.S. 535, 68 S.Ct. 235 (1947)
<u>Kreiger v. U. S.,</u> 539 F.2d 317 (3rd Cir. 1976)
<u>Kuhn v. Department of Revenue,</u> 897 P.2d 792 (Colo.1995)
<u>Kuznitsky v. U.S.,</u> 17 F.3d 1029 (7th Cir. 1994)
<u>Lambert v. Rogers,</u> 454 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)
Levine v. Dade County School Board, 442 So. 2d 210 (Fla.1983)

<u>Mallette Bros. Const. Co., Inc. v. U.S.,</u> 695 F.2d 145 (5th Cir. 1983), <u>rehearing denied</u> 701 F.2d 173 <u>cert. denied</u> , 464 U.S. 935, 104 S.Ct. 341 (19)
Markham v. Neptune Hollywood Beach Club, 527 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Matteson v. Director of Revenue,</u> 909 S.W.2d 356 (Mo. 1995)
McCarthy v. Madigan, 503 U.S. 140 (1992)
McKesson Corporation v.  Division of Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco, 496 U.S. 18 (1990)
McMahon v. U.S., 172 F.Supp. 490 (D. R.I. 1959)
Medley Investors, Ltd. v. Lewis, 465 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)
Menendez v. North Broward Hospital District, 537 So. 2d 89 (Fla. 1989)
Metropolitan Dade County v. Coats, 559 So. 2d 71 (Fla. 3rd DCA), rev. denied, 569 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1990)
Neff v. State, 116 N.M. 240, 861 P.2d 281 (N.M App. 1993)
Nemeth v. Department of Revenue, 22 Fla. Law Weekly D249a (Fla. 4th DCA January 22, 1997)
North Miami v. Seaway Corp., 151 Fla. 301, 9 So. 2d 705 (1942)
Odlham v. Foremost Dairies, Inc.,           128 So. 2d 586 (Fla. 1961)         22
Overstreet v. Frederick Cooper Co., 114 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1959)
Public Medical Assistance Trust Fund, et al. v. Hameroff, 22 Fla. Law Weekly D497d (Fla. 1st DCA February 18, 1997) 6,29
Republic Petroleum Corp. v. U.S., 613 F.2d 518 (5th Cir. 1980)

Reynolds Fasteners, Inc. v. Wright, 197 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1967)
Rosenman v. U.S., 323 U.S. 658, 65 S.Ct. 536 (1945)
<u>Smart v. Monge</u> 667 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1996)
Spangler v. Florida State Turnpike Authority, 106 So. 2d 421 (Fla. 1958)
Stallings v. Oklahoma Tax Commission, 880 P.2d 912 (Okl 1994)
State, Department of Revenue v. Brock, 576 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 584 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1991)
<u>State, ex rel. Butlers Inc. v. Gay,</u> 158 Fla. 164, 27 So. 2d 907 (1946)
<u>State ex rel. Devlin v. Dickinson,</u> 305 So. 2d 848 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975)
State ex rel. Florida Dry Cleaning and Laundry Board v. Atkinson, 136 Fla. 528, 188 So. 834 (1939)
<u>State ex rel. Hardaway Contracting Co., Inc. v. Lee,</u> 155 Fla. 724, 21 So. 2d 211 (1945)
<u>State. ex rel. Tampa Electric Company v. Gay,</u> 40 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1949)
<u>State ex rel. Victor Chemical Works v. Gay,</u> 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954) 1,6,9,11,12,13,16,19,28,29,31,34,36,37
<u>State of Arkansas v. Staton,</u> 934 S.W. 2d 478 (Ark. 1996)
<u>State of Indiana v. Sproles,</u> 672 N.E.2d 1353 (Ind. 1996)
Stewart Arms Apartments, Ltd. v. State, Department of Revenue, 362 So. 2d 1003 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978)
<u>Stone v. Errecart,</u> 675 A.2d 1322 (Vt.1996)

<u>Swanson v. State,</u> 335 N.C. 674, 441 S.E.2d 537 (1994)
Thompson v. Intercounty Tel. & Tel. Co., 62 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1952)
<u>Ujcic v. City of Apopka,</u> 581 So. 2d 218 (5th DCA 1991)
<u>United States v. Brockamp,</u> U.S, 117 S.Ct. 849 (1997)
<u>United States v. Dalm,</u> 494 U.S. 596, 110 S.Ct. 1361 (1990)
<u>United States v. Felt &amp; Tarrant Mfg. Co.,</u> 283 U.S. 269, 51 S.Ct. 376 (1931)
<u>United States v. Michel,</u> 282 U.S. 656, 51 S.Ct. 284 (1931)
<u>Vintilla v. U.S.,</u> 767 F.Supp. 249 (M.D. Fla.1990), <u>affirmed</u> , 931 F.2d 1444 (11th Cir 1991), <u>rehearing denied</u> , 942 F.2d 798 (11th Cir 1991)
Westring v. State, Department of Revenue, 682 So. 2d 171 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)
<u>Whitehurst v. Hernando County,</u> 91 Fla. 509, 107 So. 627 (1926)
Wisconsin Department of Revenue v. Hogan, 198 Wis.2d 792, 543 N.W.2d 825 (Ct. of App. 1995)
Woosley v. State, 3 Cal.4th 758, 838 P.2d 758 (1992)
Wright v. Polk County Public Health Unit, 601 So. 2d 1318 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992)
<u>Zeier v. U.S. I.R.S.,</u> 80 F.3d 1360 (9th Cir. 1996)
UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
Commerce Clause

# **FEDERAL STATUTES**

26 U.S.C.A. Section 6511
26 U.S.C.A. Section 6511(a)
26 U.S.C.A. Section 6511(b)(1)
26 U.S.C.A. Section 7422
26 U.S.C.A. Section 7422(a)
FLORIDA CONSTITUTION
Article X, Section 13
FLORIDA STATUTES
Section 2941 R.G.S. (1920)
Chapter 120, Florida Statutes
Chapter 319, Florida Statutes
Chapter 320, Florida Statutes3
Section 26.012(2)(e), Florida Statutes
Section 112.3187, Florida Statutes
Section 215.26, Florida Statutes passim
Section 215.26(1), Florida Statutes
Section 215.26(1)(b), Florida Statutes
Section 215.26(1)(c), Florida Statutes
Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes ii,4,5,7,8,10,11,13,15,19,27,28,29,34,36
Section 215.26(4), Florida Statutes
Section 319.231, Florida Statutes (1991)
Section 320.072, Florida Statutes
Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.)

Section 5/8.26, Florida Statutes
Section 627.291(2), Florida Statutes
Section 768.28, Florida Statutes
Section 768.26(5), Florida Statutes
Section 768.28(6), Florida Statutes
Section 768.28(6)(a), Florida Statutes
Section 768.28(6)(b), Florida Statutes
LAWS OF FLORIDA
Chapter 22008, Laws of Florida (1943)
Section 74, Chapter 90-132
FLORIDA ADMINISTRATIVE CODE
Rule 3A-44.020(1)
Rule 3A-44.020(2)
FLORIDA ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINIONS
Op. Atty. Gen. Fla. 78-14 (1978)
OTHER STATES' STATUTES
Colo. Stat., Section 39-21-108(1)
Kentucky Revised Statutes, 134.590 18
Missouri Statutes, 143.801
Missouri Statutes, 143.821 18
Oregon Revised Statutes, 305.765
West Virginia Code, 11-10-14 18
Wisc. Stats., Section 71.75 35
32 Vermont Statutes 5884

#### PREFACE

The issue before this Court today is the continuing validity of the legislative requirements of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, which requires both the individual filing of a refund claim and the timely filing of such a refund claim. The validity of this Court's decisions upholding strict compliance with the provisions of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, have come into question in light of this Court's language in Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994). Compare, Reynolds Fasteners, Inc. v. Wright, 197 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1967); State ex rel. Victor Chemical Works v. Gay, 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954); State, ex rel. Tampa Electric Company v. Gay, 40 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1949); and, State ex rel. Hardaway Contracting Co., Inc. v. Lee, 155 Fla. 724, 21 So. 2d 211 (1945); with, Kuhnlein, supra.

The District Courts and the circuit courts, that have interpreted <u>Kuhnlein</u>, now believe that taxpayers, claiming a constitutional challenge to a tax or fee, are entitled to file suit in circuit court without complying with any of the provisions of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes. This has lead to decisions in those court permitting no filings of refund applications with the Comptroller, allowing mass claims to be heard when the individual has not filed a claim, and permitting refund claims to be heard, and possibly paid, when the statute of nonclaim has expired for many of the taxpayers.

This Court should readdress Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, all of its past decisions interpreting Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, especially, Victor Chemical, and the Court's recent decision of Kuhnlein. Petitioners request that this Court reaffirm its decisions of Reynolds Fasteners, Inc. v. Wright, Victor Chemical, Tampa Electric Company v. Gay, and Hardaway Contracting Co. v. Lee, and announce that Kuhnlein is a narrow exception to Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, and is to be strictly limited to the particular facts of that case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

During the 1990 legislative session, the Florida Legislature enacted legislation that imposed a \$295.00 impact fee "upon the initial application for registration pursuant to s. 320.06 of every motor vehicle classified in s. 320.08(2), (3), and (9)(c) and (d)." Section 74, Chapter 90-132, Laws of Florida, and was codified as Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.). Section 320.072(1)(b) took effect on July 1, 1990. Section 74, Chapter 90-132, Laws of Florida. The law remained in effect until June 30, 1991, when Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes, was repealed and superseded by Section 319.231, Florida Statutes (1991). As the very words imply, between July 1, 1990 and June 30, 1991, an impact fee of \$295.00 was imposed upon the person registering the vehicle. As a section 200.072 (1)(b).

Ms. Judith Nemeth is a resident of Florida. (R:2;76)<sup>3</sup>/ Ms. Nemeth purchased a 1989 Plymouth Grand Voyager in New Jersey. (R:2;76) Ms. Nemeth moved to Florida in 1990. (R:2;76) On November 24, 1990, Ms. Nemeth registered her Voyager in Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida. (R:2;76) At the time of registration, Ms. Nemeth was required to pay \$295 for the impact fee imposed by Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes, (1990 Supp.). (R:2;76) Ms. Nemeth paid the \$295 impact fee in November, 1990. (R:2;76) Ms. Nemeth is now seeking a refund of the impact fee she paid on

¹/ Section 319.231, Florida Statutes, was struck in 1994 by the Florida Supreme Court as being in violation of the Commerce Clause. <u>Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein</u>, 647 So. 2d (Fla. 1994). Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.) was the predecessor to Section 319.231, Florida Statutes.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>/ Section 319.231, Florida Statutes (1991), imposed a \$295.00 impact fee upon the initial "titling" of a motor vehicle as opposed to Section 320.072(1)(b)'s imposition on "registration."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>/ Taken as true from the Respondents' Complaint and Amended Complaint.

November 24, 1990. Ms. Nemeth did not allege in the Complaint that she has ever filed a refund request for the \$295 with the Defendant Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles (DHSMV) or that she was denied a refund request, as required by Section 215.26, Florida Statutes.

Mr. Donald Nemeth is a resident of Florida. (R:3;77) Mr. Nemeth purchased a 1985 Dodge Daytona in New Jersey. (R:3;77) Mr. Nemeth moved to Florida in 1990. (R:3;77) On November 24, 1990, Mr. Nemeth registered his Dodge in Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida. (R:3;77) At the time of registration, Mr. Nemeth was required to pay \$295 for the impact fee imposed by Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.). (R:3;77) Mr. Nemeth paid the \$295 impact fee in November, 1990. (R:3;77) Mr. Nemeth is now seeking a refund of the impact fee he paid on November 24, 1990. Mr. Nemeth did not allege that he has ever filed a refund request for the \$295 with the DHSMV or that he was denied a refund request, as required by Section 215.26, Florida Statutes.

During 1990, Mr. John L. Vitale moved from New York to Florida. (R:3;77) Mr. Vitale registered his 1989 Nissan on January 7, 1991 in Port St. Lucie, St. Lucie County, Florida. (R:3;77) Mr. Vitale was required to pay all regularly required fees to title and register a vehicle imposed by Chapters 319 and 320, Florida Statutes, including the \$295 "impact fee" imposed by Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.). (R:3;77) Mr. Vitale paid the impact fee on January 7, 1991. (R:3;77) Mr. Vitale is now seeking a refund of the impact fees paid during the registration of his 1989 Nissan. Mr. Vitale did not allege that he has ever filed a refund request for the \$295 with the DHSMV or that he was denied a refund request, as required by Section 215.26, Florida Statutes.

### **COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW**

This action was initially filed in the Circuit Court for the 19th Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, on October 4, 1994. (R:1-16) Respondents challenged the constitutionality of Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.). Primarily, the Respondents alleged that Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1990 Supp.), was in violation of the Commerce Clause, as it both discriminated against and was a burden on interstate commerce (R:11-12), and infringed upon the right to travel (R:12-13).

Petitioners responded to the Respondents' complaint by filing a motion to dismiss (R:17-18), accompanied by a supporting memorandum (R:19-29). Petitioners' motion was two-fold. First, the Petitioners asserted that the Respondents had not filed a refund request as required by Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, and, thus, the Circuit Court had no jurisdiction under Section 26.012(2)(e), Florida Statutes, to hear the action. Secondly, the Petitioners asserted that the Respondents did not file a refund application with the Comptroller within the three (3) year time period from paying the fee or tax and were thus barred from seeking any refund by Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes.

A hearing was held on the Petitioners' motion on April 12, 1995. The Circuit Court issued an Order on April 19, 1995, granting Petitioners' motion and dismissing the action but allowed Respondents the opportunity to file an amended complaint within ten (10) days of the Order. (R:74). Respondents filed an amended complaint within the ten days. (R:75-92). The Respondents asserted in their amended complaint that, in addition to the same challenge raised in the first complaint (R:85-87), Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, was unconstitutional, was beyond the power of the Legislature to pass, denied Respondents access to the courts and denied the Respondents equal

protection (R:87-88). In the Amended Complaint, Respondents alleged that they had no "predeprivational hearing" opportunity to challenge Section 320.072(1)(b), Florida Statutes, before paying the impact fee (R:88). Respondents did **not** allege any additional or different facts from the first complaint.

Petitioners again filed a motion to dismiss the amended complaint (R:93-94), along with a supporting memorandum (R:95-109). Petitioners asserted that the first 12 pages of the amended complaint were an exact copy of the dismissed complaint (R:95). The remaining allegations were not directed to the Respondents' defect in timing but presented an attack on the constitutionality of Section 215.26, Florida Statutes (R:100-103); the power of the Legislature to enact Section 215.26 (R:103-104); and arguing that Section 215.26 denied due process and equal protection (R:104-106), and denied access to the courts (R 106-107).

The Circuit Court held a hearing on the Petitioners' motion to dismiss the Respondents' amended complaint on August 11, 1995. Having not alleged that any action was taken by any of the Respondents within three (3) years of paying the impact fee, the Circuit Court ruled that the Respondents were timed barred from seeking a refund. (Appendix A) (R: 142-143).<sup>4</sup>/ Respondents timely filed their notice of appeal on September 5, 1995. (R: 146-150).

On January 22, 1997, the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the decision of the circuit court. Nemeth v. Department of Revenue, 22 Fla. Law Weekly D249a (Fla. 4th DCA January 22, 1997)(Appendix B). The District Court ruled that this Court's decision in Department of Revenue v. Kuhnlein, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994), has

<sup>4/</sup> Since the Circuit Court limited its ruling to the time limitations contained in Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes, the Circuit Court did not make any ruling on Respondents' challenge to the constitutionality of Section 215.26 and their allegations of due process, access to courts or predeprivational hearings.

overruled this Court's decision in <u>State ex rel. Victor Chemical Works v. Gay</u>, 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954).<sup>5</sup>/ In so holding, the District Court negates any requirement to file a refund claim under Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, or to file such a claim with 3 years of the date of payment as required by Section 215.26(2), Florida Statutes.<sup>6</sup>/ The District Court did certify the following question to this Court to be one of great public importance:

WHETHER DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE V, KUHNLEIN, 646 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 1994) OVERRULED OR RECEDED FROM <u>STATE EX REL.</u>
<u>VICTOR CHEMICAL WORKS V. GAY</u>, 74 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 1954) TO THE EXTENT THAT <u>VICTOR CHEMICAL</u> HOLDS THAT THE RIGHT TO A REFUND OF TAXES IS BARRED IF THE TAXPAYER FAILS TO MAKE A TIMELY CLAIM FOR REFUND AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 215.26, FLORIDA STATUTES?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>/ Implicitly, the District Court believes that <u>Kuhnlein</u> also overrules all of this Court's prior decisions concerning Section 215.26, Florida Statutes, such as, <u>Reynolds Fasteners</u>, Inc. v. Wright, 197 So. 2d 295 (Fla. 1967), <u>State. ex rel. Tampa Electric Company v. Gay</u>, 40 So. 2d 225 (Fla. 1949), <u>State. ex rel. Hardaway Contracting Co. v. Lee</u>, 155 Fla. 724, 21 So. 2d 211 (1945), and many decisions of other district courts of appeal.

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