FILED

015 20 ~g

IN THE SUPREME COURT SHO J. WHITE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

APR 9 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_

Cities Deputy Clark

THE DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

•

,

JUDITH A. NEMETH, DONALD J. NEMETH, AND JOHN L. VITALE, both individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

1

FREDERICK D. HATEM Florida Bar # 906980

1549 SE Westmoreland Blvd Port St Lucie, FL 34952 Phone: 561 337 3950 FAX : 561 337 3951

Case No. 89,909

Attorney for Respondent(s) JUDITH A. NEMETH, etals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Section 215.26(2) <u>does not</u> set forth a three year requirement for refund application from the <u>date of payment</u>. Despite the numerous times that Petioners assert this gross error, the plain, honest reading of the statute nowhere mentioned the date of payment...until 1995.

The mere fact that the said statute was amended in 1995 to provide a five year window of opportunity for refund application (for payments made after September 30th, 1994) proves, by implication, that the previous version of the statute was defective and did not prevent the interpretation being asserted by Respondents herein.

This Court should view with suspicion the fact that the State Legislature, in 1995, chose September 30th, 1994, as the cutoff date, <u>knowing</u> that this action was pending (although dismissed at Circuit Court). This suit was filed on October 7th, 1994. Is this a remarkable coincidence or

-4-

is it an attempt <u>not</u> to provide "meaningful backward looking relief?"

In any event, said amendment, being remedial in nature, <u>should</u> be judicially interpreted as applicable to the case at bar, in which case, suit has been timely brought.

Another salient feature also distinguishing the case at bar from literally any other, is the passage by the Florida Legislature, during the 1996 Session of Chapter 96-243, Laws of Florida, which provided for payment to that class of tax payers embraced in this suit...<u>without regard</u> to compliance with <u>any</u> alleged conditions precedent, and also ignoring any alleged requirement to first file with the State Comptroller for a refund before bringing suit.

Said statute constitutes a valid waiver by the State of Florida of <u>any</u> alleged conditions precedent by imposing <u>no</u> impediments to an application for refund of the base sum illegally taxed, but making no provision for payment of interest nor providing for payment of attorney's fees.

Under <u>Kuhnlein</u> 600,000 person were judically found to be entitled to refund. In the case at bar, almost 100,00 person were affected by being made to pay an identical tax under virtually the same conditions...with the tax being subject to the same deficiencies as have been found by this Court to justify setting the improper <u>Kuhnlein</u> impost aside.

The same relief should be granted to the proposed class herein.

-5-

ARGUMENT

I. PETITIONERS' BRIEF IS SERIOUSLY DEFECTIVE FOR

A. FAILING TO DISTINGUISH <u>KUHNLEIN</u> (WHICH WE CONTEND CONTROLS <u>NEMETH</u>) AND THE CASE AT BAR FROM <u>ANY</u> OF THE OTHER CASES CITED BY PETITIONERS

The State raises its arguments as if this Court had never decided the <u>Kuhnlein</u> case. The State continues to raise issues fully disposed of in <u>Kuhnlein</u>, which issues have already been judicially resolved adverse to the position being asserted by the State herein.

The Petitioners have failed to show any reasoning nor have they elicited any cases to prove that <u>Kuhnlein</u> is not applicable herein.

Indeed, petitioners are appalled that so many Florida Courts are embracing the reasoning in <u>Kuhnlein</u> as being a step in the direction of remedial justice.

Having failed to prove otherwise, petitioners should be bound by <u>Kuhnlein</u> as controlling precedent herein.

B. FOR ITS FAILURE TO EXPLAIN AWAY A CLEAR READING OF SECTION 215.26, FLORIDA STATUTES, REGARDING "ACCRUAL" OF THE RIGHT TO REFUND, especially in view of

1. THE RECENT AMENDMENT IN 1995 TO SECTION 215.26, FLORIDA STATUTES, EXPANDING THE TIME FOR REFUND APPLICATION TO FIVE YEARS FROM PAYMENT, and

2. THE RECENT "REPAYMENT" STATUTE (CHAPTER 96-243, LAWS OF FLORIDA) AUTHORISING PAYMENT TO (THEORETICALLY) <u>ALL</u> PERSONS IN THE CLASS HEREIN, WITHOUT REGARD TO COMPLIANCE WITH ANY ALLEGED CONDITIONS PRECEDENT, CONSTITUTING A LEGISLATIVE WAIVER OF ALL CONDITIONS PRECEDENT HEREIN, creating legal conditions for possible summary judgment against the State and 3. THE FACT THAT <u>NONE</u> OF THE FEDERAL AND SISTER STATE CASES CITED BY PETITIONERS HAS BEEN SHOWN TO INVOLVE A REFUND STATUTE WITH IDENTICAL WORDING ALLOWING A PERIOD FOR REFUND APPLICATION "...WITHIN THREE YEARS AFTER THE RIGHT TO SUCH REFUND SHALL HAVE ACCRUED..."

Literally all of the cases cited by Petitioners include precise and specific language setting forth the time requirements and specifying a particular event *i.e.* date of payment or filing of a return, etc. No such language was included in Florida's Refund Statute until 1995 and therefore none of the cases and statutes proffered by the State are applicable herein.

Point II A. THE STATE OF FLORIDA NOW SEEKS TO CIRCUMVENT THE REASONING OF THIS COURT'S <u>KUHNLEIN</u> DECISION TO ONCE AGAIN DEPRIVE CERTAIN CITIZENS OF THE UNITED STATES AND THE STATE OF FLORIDA OF THEIR CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHT AGAINST DISCRIMINATION BY THE USE OF A PROCEDURAL REFUND STATUTE BECAUSE, WHEN THE UNDERLYING TAX STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL, THEN <u>ANY</u> IMPOSITION OF AN UNFAIR IMPEDIMENT TO A <u>FULL</u> REFUND MUST ALSO BE UNCONSTITUTIONAL.

Indeed, in <u>McKesson Corporation v. Division of</u> <u>Alcoholic Beverages and Tobacco</u>, 496 U.S.18, (1990) the United Stated Supreme Court held in that Florida case:

"2. If a State penalizes taxpayers for failure to remit their taxes in a timely fashion, thus requiring them to pay first and obtain review of the tax's validity later in a refund action, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires the State to afford them meaningful postpayment relief for taxes already paid pursuant to a tax scheme ultimately found unconstitutional."

The <u>McKesson</u> court went on to cite with approval the opinion of Mr. Justice Holmes in <u>Atchison, T. & S.F.R.</u> <u>Co. v O'Connor</u>, 223 US 280 (1911) (not cited by Petitioners): "Thus, in a post deprivation refund action, the State must provide...'a clear and certain remedy,' for any erroneous or unlawful tax collection."

B. NEITHER MAY THE STATE RELY UPON THE DOCTRINE OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY TO RETAIN THE FRUITS OF ITS ILLEGAL TAXATION, ESPECIALLY IN THE FACE OF FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL REQUIREMENTS THAT FLORIDA IS TO PROVIDE MEANINGFUL BACKWARD LOOKING RELIEF.

In <u>McKesson</u>, <u>supra</u>, the United State Supreme Court held:

"(c) Neither of the 'equitable considerations' cited by the State is sufficient to override the constitutional requirement of retrospective relief."

and

- - - -

"The State cannot persuasively claim that 'equity' entitles it to retain tax moneys taken unlawfully..."

To the same effect is the United States Supreme

Court determination in Davis v. Michigan Department of

<u>Treasury</u>, 489 U.S. 803, (1989):

"...to the extent appellant has paid taxes pursuant to this invalid tax scheme, he is entitled to a refund."

The United States Supreme Court in Harper, infra,

specifically held:

"But we have since adopted a rule requiring the retroactive application of a civil decision such as *Davis*."

The United States Supreme Court, in Fulton

Corporation v Janice Faulkner, Secretary of Revenue of North

<u>Carolina</u>, 64 USLW 4088 (1996) held:

"(a) State laws discriminating against interstate commerce on their face are 'virtually *per se* invalid."

Said Court cited <u>Oregon Waste Systems, Inc. v.</u> <u>Department of Environmental Quality of Ore.</u>, 511 U.S. ____, ____, and <u>Philadelphia v. New Jersey</u>, 437 U.S. 617 (1978).

Fulton had also sought a refund under the terms of the appropriate state statute and attorney's fees. The state trial court ruled in favor of the Secretary. The United States Supreme Court unanimously reversed and remanded.

We now call the Court's attention to the United States Supreme Court's determination in <u>Harper v. Virginia</u> <u>Department of Taxation</u>, 113 S.C.R. 2510 (1993) (also not cited by Petitioners) which held in pertinent part:

"[B]oth the common law and our own decisions' have "recognized a general rule of retrospective effect for the constitutional decisions of this Court." *Robinson v. Neil*, 409 U.S. 505 (1973). Nothing in the Constitution alters the fundamental rule of "retrospective operation" that has governed "[j]udicial decisions ... for near a thousand years." *Kuhn v. Fairmont Coal Co.*, 215 U.S. 349 (1910). (Punctuation as in original)

and

"The Supremacy Clause, U.S. Const., Art. VI, cl. 2, does not allow federal retroactivity doctrine to be supplanted by the invocation of a contrary approach to retroactivity under state law. Whatever freedom state courts may enjoy to limit the retroactive operation of their own interpretations of state law, ... cannot extend to their interpretations of federal law."

CONCLUSION

Knowing that it can retain any unpaid restitution, the State of Florida continues to be embarked on a program, deliberately and\or negligently, of obstructing any attempt to secure repayment of the stolen fruits gotten by the illegal acts of the Florida Legislature, without penalty.

The contumacious conduct of State agents, as evidenced before this Court in the <u>Kuhnlein</u> case and which are continued until this time, resulted in this Court taking close supervision of the refund process.

No less should be done herein.

In the interests of judicial economy, it is respectfully prayed that this Court affirm the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal and certify that this class action is a valid proceeding and undertake close supervision of the refund process and order payment of Respondents' attorneys fees and also order that pre- and post judgement interest be paid to those taxpayers who, for almost seven years are unlawfully deprived of their funds.